FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 14 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By *[Signature]*
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD J. UNRUH,)
)
 Petitioner,)
)
versus) S.C.T. CASE NO. 85,046
)
STATE OF FLORIDA,) DCA CASE NO. 93-2314
)
 Respondent.)
_____)

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM
THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FRENCH C. DAVIS
2762 S. Peninsula Drive
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
Phone: (904) 255-5990
FL Bar No: 0018267

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 29, 1991, Petitioner (Unruh) was arrested by Trooper Raymond J. Steele, of the Florida Highway Patrol, being charged with DUI (R 233 & 237). That said Petitioner was transported to the Ormond Beach Police Department (R 235) where Trooper Steele requested that Petitioner submit to a breath test (R 235). Petitioner thereupon advised that his background was in the U. S. Army and he had experience with breath testing machines and from his experience they "don't work right." That under certain conditions they would register when they weren't supposed to and that this had happened many times. He testified that "when we were instructed when we give a breathalyzer, we give a blood test right along with it," and that he preferred a blood test (R

237). Petitioner was read his Implied Consent Rights, (R 233) i.e., take the breath test or lose your driver's license. He was further advised that he could "take a breath test or not take a breath test, and if he wanted to have a blood test, he would have to take care of that after I had finished processing him and completing the arrest" (R 233). Petitioner submitted to the breath test (R 235), but only after having requested three different times that he be afforded the opportunity to have an independent blood test conducted (R 235, 238, 239). On cross-examination, Petitioner testified he was advised by Trooper Steele that the only time a blood test was available was when somebody was hurt bad in an accident (R 239). Trooper Steele admitted that Petitioner was at the Ormond Beach Police Department, that Ormond Beach Memorial Hospital was also in Ormond Beach and that said hospital has facilities available to administer a blood test (R 235). Steele says he did not ask Petitioner if he had sufficient funds to pay for a blood test (R 235), however, Petitioner says that Steele advised him that a blood test would cost money and Petitioner advised that he wanted a blood test (R 237) and that he had sufficient funds to pay for same (R 237, 238). Petitioner was transported to the Volusia County Jail, was processed and booked in and, for the first time after his arrest, was allowed the use of a phone, albeit, a phone from which only collect calls could be made. Petitioner was not released from jail until 3:00 PM that afternoon (R 238), even though he had been arrested in the

early morning hours of the same day. Petitioner never received his requested independent blood test. (R 253, 254)

Petitioner subsequently filed a Motion to Suppress (R 218, 219) for failure to comply with Petitioner's request for an independent blood test, which went to hearing and said Motion was denied by the trial court's order dated June 25, 1992, nunc pro tunc to June 10, 1992 (R 3,4) to the date of the hearing. (R 220, 221)

This case went to trial and Petitioner was convicted. (R 222)

Petitioner timely filed his Notice of Appeal on July 14, 1992, challenging the trial court's denial of his Motion to Suppress. (R 224) On appeal, the circuit court rendered it's Order on May 18, 1993, reversing the trial court's ruling (R 331-336). The state filed it's Petition For Writ of Certiorari with the 5th DCA on October 4, 1993 (R 1-155); the 5th DCA rendered it's Order To Show Cause on October 18, 1993 (R 156), and Petitioner timely filed his response thereto. (R 157-383)

On July 15, 1994, the 5th DCA filed it's opinion granting the petition for writ of certiorari and quashed the circuit court's order (A 1-10) This was a 2 to 1 panel decision with a dissenting opinion and a certified question. Pursuant to a Motion for Rehearing and Rehearing En Banc, the 5th DCA, on December 22, 1994, filed it's en banc opinion granting the petition for writ of certiorari and quashed the circuit court's order (A 11-22). This was a 5 to 4 en banc

decision with a certified question.

On January 18, 1995, Petitioner, (Unruh), filed his Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction, (R 434) this Honorable Court thereupon entered it's Order Postponing Decision on Jurisdiction and Briefing Schedule (R 435). Petitioner thereupon filed a Motion For Extension of time, the same having been granted by the Court. On March 6th, 1995, Petitioner received a document from the 5th DCA entitled "Index", which assigned page numbers to those documents transmitted to this Court. Petitioner filed an additional Motion For Extension of Time, which is now pending.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 316.1932 (1)(f)3, Florida Statutes (1992) provides that a person charged with DUI has the right to a blood, breath or urine test, to be performed by a qualified person or technician of his own choice, in addition to the test administered by the state, provided he has the funds to pay for said independent test.

Section 316.193 (9), Florida Statutes (1991), provides that after his arrest, a person charged with DUI may not be released from custody until

- (a) No longer under the influence.
- (b) BAC is 0.05 percent or less.
- (c) 8 hours have elapsed from time of arrest.

When read together these two statutes have conflicting provisions. F.S. 316.1932 (1)(f)3, gives an accused the right to an independent test, while F.S. 316.193 (9), in

effect, takes this right away. An accused, being held under 316.193 (9) is not free to procure his own independent test until he is no longer under the influence, at which time the results of his independent test would be worthless. Accordingly, it is impractical or impossible for an accused to obtain a meaningful independent test without the assistance of law enforcement.

In addition, there is another problem. Even though F.S. 316.1932 (1)(f)3 gives an accused the right to an independent test, this is sometimes prevented by law enforcement. In the event this should occur, law enforcement is subject to a penalty. State v. Durkee, 584 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), says F.S. 316.1932 (1)(f)3 conveys a discovery right pursuant to Rule 3.220 (n), allowing the accused to file a motion to dismiss the case or suppress the results of the state's test, all depending upon the severity of law enforcement's activity. This constitutes the punishment or sanction.

To the contrary, State v. Saylor, 625 So.2d 907 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), says that F.S. 316.1932 (1)(f)3 does not convey a discovery right, thus, there is no improper conduct on the part of law enforcement. There is no question that, on occasion, law enforcement makes errors and/or is guilty of misconduct. Durkee says an accused has a remedy. Saylor says the accused has no remedy.

Petitioner is of the opinion that F.S. 316.1932 (1)(f)3 confers a discovery right and law enforcement must

take affirmative action to assist an accused in obtaining a meaningful independent test pursuant to F.S. 316.1932 (1)(f)3 and 316.193 (9).

ARGUMENT

Based upon the 5th DCA's certified question to this Honorable Court, which says:

"IS THE STATE REQUIRED TO TAKE AFFIRMATIVE ACTION TO ASSIST A PERSON IN CUSTODY FOR DUI TO OBTAIN AN INDEPENDENT TEST FOR BLOOD ALCOHOL WHEN IT IS REQUESTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 316.1932(1)(f)3, FLORIDA STATUTES?"
(A 19)

Petitioner is of the opinion that said court misinterpreted the circuit court's opinion and that the question, as certified, is incomplete. Said certified question is incomplete because there is a conflict between the 5th DCA and the 2d DCA as to whether or not F.S. 316.1932 (1)(f)3, confers a discovery right. The 5th DCA in State v. Durkee, 584 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), says the statute does confer a discovery right. At ppg. 1082 and 1083 in Durkee, Supra., the court said:

". . . We hold that the trial court was correct in it's reading of section 316.1932 (1)(f)3 in the Durkee case, the circuit court was wrong in it's conclusion that suppression of breathilizer results is not an available sanction. . . "

The 2d DCA in State v. Saylor, 625 So.2d 907 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), says the statute does not confer a discovery right. At pg. 908 in Saylor, Supra., the court said:

". . . We hold, that, as a matter of statutory interpretation, section 316.1932 (1)(f)3 does

not confer a discovery right. . ."

Yet, the 5th DCA, without receding from it's opinion in Durkee and Weier, went outside it's jurisdiction to the 2d DCA and embraced Saylor, Supra., in it's ruling in the instant case. At this point in time, there is not only a conflict between the 5th DCA and 2d DCA as to whether F.S. 316.1932 (1)(f)3 confers a discovery right (which should have been certified), but there is also a conflict within the 5th DCA. Durkee says F.S. 316.1932 (1)(f)3 confers a discovery right, while the instant case, Unruh, says it does not confer such right. This does not comport with the conformity of decisions doctrine.

Also, in the question as certified, the 5th DCA seems to be of the opinion that F.S. 316.1932 (1)(f)3 is the only statute to be interpreted in the instant case. This is incorrect. Effective July 1, 1991, the Florida Legislature enacted Section 316.193 (9), Florida Statutes, (a mandatory holding period). It is imperative that Section 316.1932 (1)(f)3, which gives an accused the right to an independent test, be read in conjunction with Section 316.193 (9), which compels that a person arrested for DUI "may not be released from custody: (a) [u]ntil he is no longer under the influence; (b) [u]ntil his blood alcohol level is less than 0.05 percent; or (c) [u]ntil 8 hours have elapsed from the time he was arrested. Accordingly, it is impractical and many times, as in the instant case, impossible for an accused to obtain a meaningful independent test without the

assistance of a law enforcement official. For the foregoing, it is Petitioner's opinion that Section 316.193 (9) should also be included as a part of the certified question. Petitioner would, therefore, respectfully represent that the certified question should read:

DOES SECTION 316.1932(1)(f)3 CONFER A DISCOVERY RIGHT?

ALSO, WHAT AFFIRMATIVE ACTION, IF ANY, IS THE STATE REQUIRED TO FURNISH TO ASSIST A PERSON IN CUSTODY FOR DUI IN OBTAINING AN INDEPENDENT TEST FOR BLOOD ALCOHOL WHEN IT IS REQUESTED, PURSUANT TO SECTION 316.1932 (1)(f)3 AND 316.193 (9)?

Case law seems to indicate that once the Supreme Court of Florida accepts jurisdiction under one of the provisions of Article V, Section 3, of the Florida Constitution, the Court is not limited to considering only that issue, but may, "in [it's] discretion, consider other issues properly raised and argued before [the Supreme] Court." Savoie v. State, 422 So.2d 308, 310 (Fla.1982). Therefore, once discretionary review is obtained (Petitioner so prays), a party can present in it's merit brief any additional issues that were raised in the district court which the party wishes the Court to decide.

The statutory law and case law governing the answer to the first proposed question, to-wit: "Does Section 316.1932 (1)(f)3, confer a discovery right?", is not indigenous to the state of Florida. Most, if not all of our sister states, have similar statutes which provide one accused of DUI with the right to an independent test. The means most frequently

used to challenge the denial of this right is a motion to dismiss/suppress, and this applies to cases in Florida and out-of-state. The out-of-state cases in which this motion is used to challenge the denial of this right are legion. There are also numerous Florida cases which subscribe to this rule of law. The landmark Florida case seems to be Durkee, Supra., wherein, at pg. 1082 and 1083, the court said:

" . . . We hold that the trial court was correct in it's reading of section 316.1932 (1)(f)3 in the Durkee case. The circuit court was wrong in it's conclusion that suppression of breathalyzer results is not an available sanction. . ."

As to other Florida cases which are in agreement with Durkee, See: State v. Lemmon, No. 66033-WA (Fla. Volusia Cty. Ct., January 27, 1992); State v. Valdes-Fauli, 46 Fla. Supp. 2d 114 (Fla. Dade Cty. Ct 1991); State v. Hastings, 2 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 81 (Fla. Dade Cty. Ct. 1993); State v. Bock, 1 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 573 (Fla. Dade Cty. Ct. 1993). Motions to dismiss or suppress were granted in all of these cases. Most every case cited by both Petitioner and Respondent in all prior pleadings in the instant case involved motions to dismiss/suppress. Some were granted and some were denied; however, the question is not whether the motions were granted or denied, the question is whether the motion is the proper vehicle to challenge the denial of the right. The only case found by Petitioner, either in Florida or out-of-state, in which the opinion conflicts with the above, is Saylor, Supra., and not one single case was cited therein, either in or out-of-state, to support it's opinion. It also failed to

cite to F.S. 316.193 (9), and to consider the impact it would have on an accused's right to an independent test. This must have been an oversight since said statute had been in effect in excess of 2 years when the Saylor opinion came down. It would appear that F.S. 316.1932(1)(f)3, does convey a discovery right.

As to the second proposed question, which says, essentially: "What affirmative action to assist, if any, is the state required to furnish. . . pursuant to section 316.1932 (1)(f)3 and 316.193(9)?" As previously stated herein, most all of our sister states have statutes similar to Florida's 316.1932(1)(f)3 (right to independent test); however, Petitioner is unaware of any sister state having a statute similar to Florida's 316.193(9), (mandatory holding statute). As a result of this, Florida's law pertaining to affirmative action to assist is unique and Florida case law should be used, if possible, to interpret our statutes.

In order to support the granting of a motion to dismiss, the accused must be able to show that the conduct or wrongdoing of law enforcement, in preventing the accused from obtaining an independent test, rises to the level of an affirmative finding of bad faith. This constitutes a violation of due process in violation of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9, of the Florida Constitution, see Durkee, Supra., at pg. 1083; and Bock, Supra., at pg. 575. Since an affirmative finding of bad faith is not involved in

the instant case, Petitioner will not argue this point.

In order to support the granting of a motion to suppress, the accused must be able to show that the conduct of law enforcement, in preventing the accused from obtaining an independent test, rose to the level of wrongdoing; or, that law enforcement failed to take any affirmative action in aiding the accused. It could also be a combination of both.

In dealing with wrongdoing, which does not rise to the level of an affirmative finding of bad faith, it is to be noted that most all of our sister states have dealt with this; since, as hereinbefore noted, most have statutes similar to Florida's 316.1932 (1)(f)3, (right to independent test). There are decisions, both pro and con as to what conduct constitutes wrongdoing sufficient to support the granting of a motion to suppress. Most of the case law, dealing with wrongdoing, generally involves direct refusal, delaying tactics, inactivity or misinformation on the part of law enforcement. E.g., Durkee, Supra., at pg. 1081, "Would not allow test"; " refused to honor requests"; Galiti v. State, 1 Fla. L. Weekly, Supp. 162 (Fla. Cir. Ct. 12th Circuit 1992), at pg. 162, "Manatee County Sheriff's office does not comply with any requests for blood tests"; State v. Hastings, 2 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 81 (Fla. Dade Cty. Ct. 1993), "Since arrested in Miami Beach, independent test must be performed at Miami Beach Police Station." In dealing with the question as to whether law enforcement is required to take affirmative action to assist an accused in obtaining an

independent test, it all depends on what one believes affirmative action to assist consists of. Generally, affirmative action to assist, involves furnishing the accused with a phone and directory, allowing phone calls to arrange tests, making calls for the accused, transporting for the blood draw.

As to some out-of-state cases involving the use of a phone and directory, see: e.g. State v. Bumgarner, 389 S.E. 2d 425 (N.C. App. 1990), at pg. ?, the facts show he was provided a free telephone, a telephone book and law enforcement assisted in looking up a number. Messner v. State, 481 N.W. 2d 236, 240 (N.D. 1992), at pg. 328, the facts show he was given access to a phone. Puett v. State, 248 S.E. 2d 560 (Ga. App. 1978), at pg. ?, the facts show that he telephoned the local hospital. Harper v. State, 296 S.E. 2d 782 (Ga. App. 1978), at pg. 783, the facts show he was given a phone book and allowed to place at least 2 phone calls. Theel v. Commissioners, etc., 447 N.W. 2d 472 (Minn. Ct. of Appeals 1990). The facts in this case show that he called his sister and four hospitals. Gray v. State, 392 S.E. 2d 290, 291, (Ga. App. 1990), at pg. 290, the facts reflect the jailer made a call for him and he was allowed to make a phone call. Commonwealth v. Rosewarne, 571 N.E. 2d 354 (Mass. 1991), at pg. 355, the facts show he telephoned a hospital to arrange a test. Short v. Commissioner, etc., 442 N.W. 2d 40, 41 & 42 (Minn. App. 1988), at pg. 41 the facts show he was allowed to call his wife and his attorney. From

the foregoing, it would appear that in out-of-state cases, an accused is entitled at least to the use of a phone and a directory in an effort to obtain an independent test. As to Florida cases involving the use of a phone and directory, see, e.g., State v. Hastings, 2 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 81 (Fla. Dade Cty. Ct. 1993). At pg. 81, the facts show Defendant was not offered the opportunity to make arrangements with Indian Creek Village Police Department or any other testing facility. . . Motion to Suppress granted. Durkee, Supra., at pg. 1081 the facts show that Durkee was told he did not have the right to speak with an attorney. Motion to suppress granted. State v. Lemmon, No. 66033-WA, (Fla. Volusia County Ct. 1992). At pg. 3 of the court's order the facts show he was allowed to call his attorney collect. Motion to Suppress granted. State v. Valdes-Fauli, 46 Fla. Supp. 2d 104 (Fla. Dade Cty. Ct. 1991). At pg. 116, he was not permitted to make a phone call as requested. Motion to dismiss granted. From the foregoing, it would appear that an accused, in Florida, is entitled to the use of a phone. In any event, the use of a phone would be one form of affirmative action to assist.

As to the use of a phone in the instant case, the 5th DCA said in it's opinion at pg. 2, as follows:

. . . it is undisputed that he (Unruh) had a phone available to place phone calls. . .
(A 12)

This is an incorrect statement and is not supported by the record. The 5th DCA made this statement based upon a

misinterpretation of the circuit court's opinion, wherein at pg. 2 thereof the court said:

". . . The argument was made that a telephone was made available to Appellant (Unruh)".
(R 333)

In that statement, the circuit court was not saying that a telephone was made available, merely that such argument was made by the state.

The truth of the matter is that the answer to this question can only be found in the transcript of the hearing on the Motion to Suppress. The following is from said transcript at pg. 5. Trooper Steele is testifying on direct examination:

". . . I advised him that we didn't have that available (blood test) right now, and that his choice would be based upon whether he could take one - take a breath test or not take a breath test, and if he wanted to have a blood test, he would have to take care of that after I had finished processing him and completing the arrest. . ." (Emphasis Supplied)(R 233)

The following are also excerpts from the transcript. These are questions propounded and answers elicited on cross examination of Petitioner (Unruh):

". . . Q. He never denied you access to a phone to try to contact persons to get the blood test administered, did he?

A. Well, when I have - - I will put it this way: He was not in the mood for me to do anything. . ." (R 239)

Q. Did you ask him for the use of a telephone or in some other way to contact somebody to get this blood test administered?

A. When I got to the County Jail, that's when they gave me access to a phone. . .
(Emphasis Supplied)(R 240)

As can be seen from the foregoing, a phone was not made

available at the Ormond Beach Police Department. Only after he had been transported, booked and processed into the Volusia County Jail was a phone made available, and then, only collect calls could be made. This is why Petitioner contends, as did the circuit court, that under these conditions, Petitioner's chances of getting a meaningful blood test were practically nil.

There is another line of thinking as to the probability, or even possibility, that anyone would come to the jail house in the wee hours of the morning to administer a blood test to an alleged drunk. See the circuit court's opinion. (R 333)

Turning now to the most hotly contested issue of - affirmative duty to assist - does law enforcement have the responsibility to transport an accused for a blood draw when an independent test is requested? The 5th DCA was of the opinion that law enforcement had no such responsibility. In arriving at this opinion, the 5th DCA at ppg. 5 and 6 of it's ruling, said:

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