By_

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

RONALD J. UNRUH

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 85,046

vs.

2

and the

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BEN FOX ASSISTANT STATE ATTORNEY 251 N. RIDGEWOOD AVENUE DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32114 (904) 239-7710 FLORIDA BAR NO.:0460052

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Defendant's legal argument before this Court relies in large part on his factual claim that a statement made in the Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion below was incorrect. Specifically, the statement was that the Defendant "had a phone available to place calls." However, as the Argument section of the Answer Brief will show, the Record clearly supports such a statement, especially when considered in light most favorable to Moreover, regardless of whether the Fifth District's the State. statement was intended to mean that a phone was available at the police station or only at the jail, it makes no legal difference: Defendant never asked to use the phone at any time; in fact, the Defendant conceded that he simply asked for a blood test and "figured" that the police would arrange the blood test for him. Moreover, there is nothing in the Record to indicate how long of a delay there was from the time the Defendant requested a blood test until the time he arrived at the jail. Thus, the Defendant has failed to show that any passage of time due to being processed at the police station and transported to the jail haD any effect on his ability to obtain an independent blood test.

As to the legal issue, it is the State's position that Florida's independent blood test statute only creates a duty on law enforcement's part to not interfere with a DUI arrestee's attempts to obtain such an independent test; there is no duty on law enforcement's part to affirmatively assist the arrestee in obtaining the test. As an Annotation reviewing cases from around

the United States has explained, the "non-interference" interpretation has been accepted throughout the country, except in those states which have statutes that expressly impose a higher duty.

The Defendant claims that Florida's situation is unique and that the cases from out-of-state are inapplicable due to Florida's mandatory custody statute (which requires that DUI arresteeS remain in custody for up to eight hours). According to Defendant, the practical difficulties of getting someone to come to the police station or jail to perform a blood test necessitates an affirmative duty on law enforcement's part to assist in obtaining the test. However, many cases from out-of-state actually involve the situation where a person is in custody for an extended period time; these cases unanimously hold that merely allowing the arrestee access to a phone so that the arrestee can arrange to have a qualified person come to the place of custody to perform the blood test is sufficient both for due process and statutory purposes.

Moreover, without regard to the out-of-state cases, the only three Florida appellate cases which have considered this issue have also adopted the non-interference rationale rather than the affirmative duty rationale. Under the latest two cases (including the instant case), there is no duty on law enforcement's part to have a qualified person standing by so as to be able to administer a blood test upon demand, nor is there any duty to transport a DUI arrestee to a nearby hospital for this purpose. Instead, it is the arrestee's responsibility to find an appropriate person to perform

the test. Additionally, although this Court has not yet had an opportunity to address this specific issue, previous decisions of this Court reveal principles which are consistent with the noninterference rationale, rather than the affirmative duty to assist rationale.

Finally, there is a separate statute which sheds some light on the instant issue. This separate statute states that if the arresting officer does <u>not</u> request a breath test from the DUI arrestee, then that officer must, if requested by the arrestee, have a test performed. When this statute is read in <u>pari materia</u> with the independent blood test statute, it becomes obvious that the legislature intended to impose one type of obligation on law enforcement when the officer <u>fails</u> to request a breath test (<u>i.e.</u>, the obligation to have some kind of test performed), and another type of obligation when the officer <u>does</u> request a breath test (<u>i.e.</u>, the obligation to allow the arrestee to obtain a separate test on his own).

<u>ARGUMENT</u>: UNDER FLORIDA'S INDEPENDENT BLOOD TEST STATUTE, LAW ENFORCEMENT HAS NO AFFIRMATIVE DUTY TO ASSIST A PERSON IN OBTAINING THE TEST; RATHER, THAT DUTY IS LIMITED TO NOT INTERFERING WITH THE PERSON'S ATTEMPTS TO OBTAIN THE TEST

The certified question propounded to this Court by the Fifth District Court of Appeal is as follows:

IS THE STATE REQUIRED TO TAKE AFFIRMATIVE ACTION TO ASSIST A PERSON IN CUSTODY FOR DUI TO OBTAIN AN INDEPENDENT TEST FOR BLOOD ALCOHOL WHEN IT IS REQUESTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 316.1932(1)(f)3, FLORIDA STATUTES?⁴

20 Fla. L. Weekly at D32. Perhaps the issue was better framed in the body of the Fifth District's opinion. That is, the Court articulated the issue earlier in its opinion as follows: "The issue is whether law enforcement has an affirmative duty to assist Unruh in obtaining an independent blood test or whether the duty is limited to not interfering with Unruh's attempts to obtain the blood test." <u>Id</u>., at 31. The Court went on to find that law enforcement does not have an affirmative duty to assist but instead only has the duty to "not prevent or hinder an individual's timely and reasonable attempt to obtain an independent examination. ..."

⁴Defendant's initial Brief suggests that the certified question preliminary question "Does Section should include the 316.1932(1)(f)3 confer a discovery right?" As to this question, the Fifth District below aligned itself with the Second District's opinion in State v. Saylor, 625 So. 2d 907 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) in holding that this section does not confer a discovery right; this holding effectively precludes any remedy for a violation of this section. The State herein is not actively pursuing the argument that there is no remedy for a violation of this section because it is not pertinent to the certified question; however, the State disagrees with Defendant's implication that such a ruling is unprecedented. In State v. Castillo, 528 So.2d 1221 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) and <u>Rice v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 509 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), both courts effectively held that there is no remedy when the police fail to provide a pre-arrest breath test when requested by a DUI arrestee, notwithstanding that a then-existing statute required a police officer to provide a pre-arrest breath test upon demand.

<u>Id.</u>, at 32, note 5.

• ,

Before discussing the legal issue of what duty law enforcement should have in such a situation, the State would like to address a factual issue raised in Defendant's Initial Brief. In its opinion below, the Fifth District stated: "It is undisputed that he [<u>i.e.</u> the Defendant] had a phone available to place calls." <u>Id</u>., at 31. The Defendant claims this statement is incorrect. Additionally, after referring to two portions of the Record, Defendant makes the following claims:

As can be seen from the foregoing, a phone was not made available at the Ormond Beach Police Department. Only after he had been transported, booked and processed into the Volusia County Jail was a phone made available, and then, only collect calls could be made. . . .

(Pages 14-15 of Defendant's Initial Brief)

There are numerous reasons why the State takes issue with these claims. The first, and perhaps most important, reason is that it is clear from the Record that the Defendant never asked to use a phone at any time. Trooper Steele testified to this fact on direct-examination. (T6) On cross-examination, the Defendant testified to this as follows:

- Q. Did you ask him for the use of a telephone or in some other way to contact somebody to get this blood test administered?
- A. When I got to the County Jail, that's when they gave me access to a phone, but he --
- Q. <u>Did you make any requests to the trooper to allow you</u> <u>access to a telephone or some other means of communication</u> <u>to get this blood test you wanted arranged</u>?
- A. The only thing I told him was I wanted blood tests, and I figured he would arrange that himself.

(T12) (Emphasis added)⁵ Based on the above, it would not have mattered whether a phone was specifically offered to Defendant or not -- he clearly would not have attempted to use it to arrange for a blood test because he "figured that [Trooper Steele] would arrange that himself." <u>See</u>, <u>Caplor v. Greenville</u>, 422 F.2d 299 (5th Cir. 1970) (no violation of right to independent blood test where defendant made no request to use telephone).

۰.

Secondly, the mere fact that the Defendant testified that "[w]hen I got to the County Jail, that's when they gave me access to a phone" does not <u>ipso facto</u> mean that Defendant did not have access to a phone at the Ormond Beach Police Department. In the first place, the trial court, as finder of fact, was not obligated to accept this testimony;⁶ in fact, one could infer from the Record that the trial court actually rejected this testimony and instead found that the Defendant actually did have access to a phone at the police station.⁷ Moreover, <u>Trooper Steele</u> was never asked whether

⁷During the argument portion of the hearing, the following occurred:

⁵It should be noted that the Defendant's reference to this testimony at page 14 of his brief leaves out the underscored portion of the above passage.

⁶<u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Morgan v. State</u>, 303 So.2d 393,394 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974) ("Positive false testimony recognized as such and rejected by [the fact finder] is entitled to as much weight in support of a verdict as that of true testimony believed.")

THE COURT: My understanding of the law in addition to the implied consent breath test, to make a blood test, it's up to him to get it. He can call his own doctor.

MR. DAVIS [defense counsel]: How can he get his while he's under arrest, Judge?

THE COURT: Use the telephone, call the doctor, get in

the Defendant was provided access to a phone at the police department. He only testified that he told the Defendant that "if he wanted to have a blood test, he would have to take care of that after I had finished processing him and completing the arrest." (R5) Trooper Steele did not say where this processing and arrest would be "finished" and "completed" -- it could have been while still at the police department. Thus Trooper Steele's testimony is susceptible of the inference that the Defendant had access to a phone at the station. In any event, because the Defendant was the appellant in his original appeal, and is the Petitioner in this certiorari petition before this Court, the benefit of the doubt as to this factual issue should go to the State. See Owen v. State, 560 So.2d 207 (Fla. 1990) (ruling of trial court on motion to suppress comes to appellate court clothed with presumption of correctness and appellate court must interpret evidence and reasonable inference and deductions in manner most favorable to sustaining trial court's ruling).

Finally, even assuming <u>arguendo</u> that no phone was ever specifically provided to the Defendant at the police department, this would not necessarily make the Fifth District's statement that a phone was available incorrect. It could be that the Fifth District was referring to the phone that, by the Defendant's own testimony, was made available at the jail. There is nothing in the Record to indicate how much time it took between the time that

touch with your physican, <u>have him come to the station</u>. (T25) (Emphasis added)

Defendant requested a blood test and the time that he arrived at the jail.⁸ And there certainly is nothing in the Record to support the claim in Defendant's brief that only collect calls could be made from the jail. Therefore, the Fifth District could have deemed any delay during this time to be insignificant, especially given the Defendant's apparent aversion to taking any action on his own to arrange a blood test. As the appellant below and Petitioner in this Court, the Defendant has clearly failed to show that any time passage due to being processed and transported to the jail had any impact on his ability to obtain an independent blood test.⁹ Therefore, this Court should have no trouble accepting the Fifth District's statement that the Defendant "had a phone available to place calls."

• .

With this factual matter now resolved, the State will hereby address the legal issue of what duty law enforcement has when a DUI suspect requests an independent blood test. The Fifth District below noted that the majority rule in this country, as articulated in an Annotation, is that there is no affirmative duty to assist, only a duty not to interfere. 20 Fla. L. Weekly at D32, note 5. Actually, it is more than a "majority" rule. As explained in the Annotation:

The constitutional right to an independent sobriety test

⁸Recall from the Statement of the Case and Facts that Trooper Steele refused to speculate as to this matter and that Defendant provided no testimony as to this matter either.

⁹For further discussion as to the effect of this passage of time on the legal issues in this case, <u>see</u> footnote 10 of this Answer Brief, at page 13.

is really a right to police noninterference with the motorist's obtaining such a test. There is no constitutional right to police <u>assistance</u> in obtaining the test. . .

* * *

• .

Holding a motorist incommunicado, and denying telephone access, during the time when the motorist might arrange for a private sobriety test to establish his or her innocence, has been held a violation of the motorist's constitutional rights . . ., at least where the motorist has requested such telephone access . . . The motorist's constitutional rights are observed when police officers allow the motorist to make a telephone call . . . or offer to make a call for a motorist who for good reason is denied personal access to a telephone . . .

Beyond allowing the telephone call, there are few constitutional demands on police officers in this situation. . .

* * *

In some ways the statutory right to a private sobriety test parallels the constitutional right to such a test. The private test is not free, that is, a motorist with insufficient funds need not be afforded a private test at public expense. . .

Unless the statute expressly so provides, there is no right to police assistance in obtaining a private sobriety test, as distinguished from police noninterference with the motorist's attempts to arrange such a test. . .

45 A.L.R. 4th 11, at S(2)(a), pages 17 and 18 (emphasis in original).

Twice in his brief, Defendant attempts to downplay the effect of the principles associated with this Annotation. Both times, he suggests that Florida's mandatory custody statute (section 316.193(9)) distinguishes Florida from other states. Specifically, Defendant first says:

[M]ost all of our sister states have statutes similar to Florida's 316.1932(1)(f)3 (right to independent test);

however, Petitioner is unaware of any sister state having a statute similar to Florida's 316.193(9), (mandatory holding statute). <u>As a result of this, Florida's law</u> <u>pertaining to affirmative action to assist is unique and</u> <u>Florida case law should be used, if possible, to</u> <u>interpret our statutes</u>.

(Page 10 of Defendant's Initial Brief) (Emphasis Added) Later in his brief, Defendant states:

. . [I]t is to be noted that this annotation was published in 1986, some 5 years prior to the enactment of F.S. 316.193(9) and did not consider the impact it would have on an accused's right to procure an independent test.

(Page 20 of Defendant's Initial Brief)

٠.

Notwithstanding Defendant's attempt to place Florida in a unique status due to the mandatory custody rule of section 316.193(9), this statute does not change the rule.¹⁰ In fact, in many of the cases cited in the Annotation (as well as in cases not so cited), the person was in custody for an extended period of time; these cases unamimously hold that access to a phone (in order to arrange a blood draw at the place of custody) is sufficient.

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